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MEIR J. WESTREICH CSB 73133

Attorney at Law

221 East Walnut, Suite 200
Pasadena, California 91101

626 440 9906 / FAX 626-440-9970

Attorney for Plaintiffs

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SOLUTIONS FOR UTILITIES,
INC.. a California Co;poratum
CALIFORNIANS FOR
RENEWABLE ENERGY, INC,, a
California Non-Profit Corporation,

Plaintiffs,

CALIFORNIA PUBLICUTILITIES
COMMISSION, an indepeﬂdem
Ca%zamma State Agency:

SOUTHERN CALIF R\’IA
EDISON CO., a California
Corporation,

Defendanis.

INTRODUCTION
This is a federal question action in which Plaintiffs, Solutions for Utilities, Inc.
[“"SFUI”"} and CAlifornians for Renewabie Energy, Inc. ["CARE"], California based
small scale energy companies, are seeking equitable relief and money damages from
Defendants, California Public Utilities Commission [“CPUC”] a California state
agency charged with infer alia California energy policymaking and delegated federal

regulation enforcement, and Southern California Edison Co. [“SCE”], a state enabled
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monopoly energy corporation acting collusively and in concert with CPUC to
effectively undermine the federal policy of promoting the viability and integration of
small energy generating companies and protecting them from monopolistic practices,
to the great injury to Plaintiffs and the public interest.

Plaintiffs seek injunctive and/or declaratory relief compelling and/or
commanding Defendant CPUC to perform its federal-mandated regulatory duties,
including federallv mandated standards in connection with the Public Ultility
Regulatory Policies Act [“"PURPA”], as prescribed by the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission [“FERC”]. Plaintiffs aiso seek remedial money damages from
Defendants for Plaintiffs’ economic injuries caused by Defendants’ violations of said
federal laws and regulations, and punitive damages for Defendants’ intentional and
repetitive violations of law.

Accordingly, Plaintiffs allege for their Complaint [each of the Paragraphs
enumerated under a heading of “Common Allegations” are incorporated by this
reference into each of the numbered claimsj:

COMMON ALLEGATIONS
JURISDICTIONAL AND PARTY ALLEGATIONS

1. This is a federal question action under the Public Utility Regulatory Polices
Act [“PURPA™] and 42 U.S.C. §1983, to redress violations of federal laws
committed by Defendants, i.e. to inter alia compel the enforcement of federal laws,
for Plaintiffs’ and the public’s interests, and to secure remedial relief for Plaintiffs for
damages caused by those violations.

2. The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked under 28 U.S.C. §1331 and 28
U.S.C. §1343, this being an action arising under, and for the violations of, federal
laws.

3. Venue is properly located in the Central District of California pursuant to
28 U.S.C.§1391(b)(1) & (b)2). because both Defendants reside within the same
State of California, with Defendant California Public Utilities Commission [“CPUC”]
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headquartered in the Northern District of California and Defendant Southern
California Edison Company [*SCE”] headquartered in the Central District of
California; and the acts complained of herein were consummated in substantial part
in both districts.

4. Plaintiffs are Solutions for Utilities, Inc., a California Corporation
[“SFUIL.and CAlifornians for Renewable Energy, Inc., a California Non-Profit
Corporation [“CARE”L

5. Defendants are: California Public Utilities Commission [*CPUC”], a
California state agency, established under the California State Constitution as an
independent agency, charged with inter alia California energy policymaking and, by
express terms of federal laws on which this action is based, express delegated federal
regulatory enforcement; and Southern California Edison Co., a California
Corporation [“SCE”] that is the primary energy supplier for a large portion of the
State of California with ownership of a substantial portion of the power grid in that
| service area.

6. The Federal Power Act [“FPA™], 16 U.S.C. §791, et seq., and its followup
act, the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act ["PURPA"], 16 U.S.C. §824, er seq.,
were each adopted by Congress under the Commerce Clause of the United States
Constitution in light of the inter-state nature of the subject matter of the statutory
scheme, and expressly preempted state authority in that field to the extent (a)
provided therein or (b) state law conflicts therewith, under the Supremacy Clause of
the United States Constitution.

7. PURPA was adopted by Congress to encourage the development of
nontraditional cogeneration and small power production tacilities, to: (a) reduce the
demand for traditional fossil fuels; and (b) rectify the problems that impeded
development of nontraditional electricity generating facilities: (1) reluctance of
traditional electricity utilities to purchase power from, or sell power to,
nontraditional electricity generating facilities; and (2) state utility regulations of
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alternative energy sources which impose financial burdens on nontraditional facilities
and thus discourage their development.

8. PURPA authorizes the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ["FERC"]
to enforce the requirements of PURPA by adoption of implementing regulations and
resolution of disputes about the meaning, implementation and application of the
federal laws and regulations.

9. In accordance with its aforesaid regulatory authority, FERC has duly
adopted federal regulations to implement PURPA mandates for protections for small
power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities,
including, inter alia, (a) mandatory requirements and standards therefor, (b) provision
for certification of qualifying facilities as defined therein, and ( ¢) enforcement
obligations. powers and procedures. In so doing, FERC has issued interpretive
rulings of PURPA provisions and its aforementioned regulations.

10. As an integral part of the regulatory scheme of PURPA, the individual
states and their respective energy regulatory agencies are required under Section 210
of PURPA, see 16 U.S.C. §824a-3, to enforce energy production and ratemaking
standards promulgated by FERC; and the regulatory scheme presupposes the creation

by the several states of respective state agencies to implement within their respective

jurisdictions the statutory policies and mandates of PURPA and federal regulations

adopted in connection therewith.

I1. Defendant CPUC is the California state agency which is empowered to
provide the regulatory authority and responsibility contemplated by FPA and PURPA,
and their FERC adopted implementing regulations, and hence is subject to their
respective regulatory authority.

12, Defendant CPUC has established a program involving ratemaking and
interconnection standards for private energy generating individuals or companies who
do so solely for their own use and hence are not governed by FPA or PURPA.
Concomitant with this “own use” program, CPUC has adopted regulations which
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ostensibly seeks to address minor quantities of surplus energy incidentally generated
by “own use” facilities, permitting the sale of that minimal amount of surplus energy
while nevertheless still treating the facility as an “own use” facility not governed by
PURPA’s regulatory authority [“Rule 21 Facilities”].

13. However, CPUC and/or SCE, acting in concert, have misused Rule 21 to
apply to small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating
facilities who incidentally and typically use a small portion of their generated energy
for their own operations / use, despite the fact that they are substantively
indistinguishable from the facilities expressly subject to PURPA and its FERC
promulgated regulations, thereby circumventing the entire PURPA legislative and
regulatory scheme.

4. SCE is the owner of the power grid in the region where SFUI intended and
sought to interconnect and supply energy, at rates and otherwise in accordance with
the requirements and standards established by PURPA and FERC in its implementing
regulations. The owner of the power grid in the region where CARE intended and
sought to interconnect and supply energy, at rates and otherwise in accordance with
the requirements and standards established by PURPA and FERC in its implementing
regulations, are not named in this action.

15. PURPA also expressly authorizes FERC to enforce the requirements of
PURPA and related federal regulations against (a) any state regulatory agency, or (b)
any nonregulated electric utility, by action in federal district court, which has
exclusive jurisdiction over such enforcement actions; or, alternatively, to interpose
its own judgment on ratemaking and interconnection standards.

16. PURPA also expressly authorizes private utility companies and qualitied
facilities to enforce the requirements of PURPA and related federal regulations
against (a) any state regulatory agency, or {b) any nonregulated electric utility, also
by action in federal district court, which has exclusive jurisdiction over such
enforcement actions, provided only that said company first petitions FERC to seek
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the specified enforcement, and within the following sixty (60) days FERC fails or
declines to do so.

17. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that CPUC
has effectively surrendered its regulatory authority, if any, over SCE by affording
SCE undue influence and control over CPUC deliberations, decisions and actions to
the extent that they affect or impact SCE under a broadly expansive view of SCE’s
portion of the energy market; and by politically incestuous relationships between
regulator [CPUC] and regulated [SCE] officials, which effectively preclude any
independent judgment and exercise of discretion in the implementation and
application of governing and controlling federal and state laws and regulations.

18. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that CPUC
and SCE, and their respective managers and staff, routinely engage in joint and
collaborative tasks, functions and decisonmaking, with mobility between respective
staffs, that render them generally indistinguishable, and further render the actions of
one the actions of the other.

19. CPUC has at all relevant times herein acted by atfirmative conduct as well
as its omissions to act despite having a duty to do so.

20. Atall times pertinent to this Complaint, Defendants were each an agent of
the other Defendant.

21. The Defendants herein, and each of them, have conspired to do the acts
and wrongs mentioned herein; and an act in furtherance thereot has been committed.

22. At all times pertinent to this Complaint, the Defendants and each of them
were acting in concert with each other and others not named as parties herein.

23. Atall times pertinent to this Complaint, each of the Defendants authorized
and/or ratified the acts, omissions, representations and agreements of the other

Defendant.
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24. All of the conduct alleged against each and all of the defendants mentioned
herein was intentional, and intended to accomplish each and all of the unlawiful

purposes described herein.
CLAIM NO. 1
CLAIM FOR ENFORCEMENT OF PURPA
— Plaintiffs SFUI and CARE —
— Defendants CPUC and SCE —
[16 U.S.C. §824a-3]

25. Plaintiff SFUI has at all relevant times been an electric utility which is
within the class of small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity
generating facilities subject to and contemplated by PURPA and its FERC
promuligated regulations.

26. Plaintiff SFUI was misdirected and/or fraudulently induced by SCE to
pursue its efforts at securing interconnection with SCE and a concomitant
interconnection contract, and thereby obtain the benefits of its rights under PURPA
and its FERC promulgated regulations, by submission of an application as a Rule 21
Facility. Hence, Plaintiff SFUI did not seek nor obtain qualified facility status for
SFUI business projects addressed herein, although SFUI qualified therefor in
connection with a home office solar system, and readily could have done so; and SCE
then exploited this artificial, fraudulent advantage to ignore and violate the PURPA
and FERC approved regulatory scheme.

27. The use by CPUC of Rule 21 Facilities standards for small power
production facilities and/or nontraditional electricity generating facilities that
incidentally use their own generated energy for their own operations is a transparent
device for circumventing PURPA and its FERC promulgated regulations governing
ratemaking and interconnection standards, and is in fact used and exploited for that
purpose, as it was in respect to Plaintiff SFUL

28. Plaintiff CARE has at all relevant times been an organization representing
electric utilities which are Qualified Facilities [*QF”] and within the class of small
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power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities subject
to and contemplated by FPA and PURPA, and the latter’s FERC promulgated
regulations.

29. Plaintiff SFUI made repeated and long-standing efforts to obtain contracts
with SCE in accordance with PURPA and its implementing regulations, and the
economic viability afforded thereby, but has been unable to do so because of refusal
of SCE to abide with PURPA and its implementing regulations, and the refusal of
CPUC to enforce PURPA and its implementing regulations, despite repeated efforts
by Plaintiff SFUI to secure same.

30. On March 11, 2011, Plaintiff SFUI petitioned FERC to enforce PURPA
and its implementing regulations and compliance therewith by CPUC and SCE. On
May 19, 2011, FERC declined to do so.

31. Plaintiff CARE made repeated and long-standing efforts to obtain contracts
with local power grid providers in accordance with PURPA and its implementing
regulations, and the economic viability afforded thereby, but has been unable to do
so because of refusal of the local power grid providers to abide with PURPA and its
implementing reguiations, and the refusal of CPUC to enforce PURPA and its
implementing regulations, despite repeated efforts by Plaintiff CARE to secure same.

32. OnJanuary 28, 2011, Plaintiff CARE petitioned FERC to enforce PURPA
and its implementing regulations, and enforce compliance therewith, by CPUC and
local power grid providers. On March 17, 2011, FERC declined to do so.

33. As a result of the failure and refusal of CPUC, SCE and other relevant
focal power grid providers to comply with and/or enforce compliance with PURPA
and its implementing regulations, Plaintitfs have been frustrated in their efforts to
enter the energy market, and prevented from doing so in a manner and in accordance
with the public policies set forth in PURPA and its implementing regulations.

34. PURPA and its FERC adopted implementing regulations mandate the
following:

oML AINT FOR DAMAGES AND BOTITARLE BRLIIE
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a. Small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity
generating facilities must be afforded means to rapidly and expeditiously interconnect
with existing power grids of the major utilities.

b. Major utilities / power grid owners must purchase energy from
available small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating
facilities [“Must Take Mandate™], which de facto means permitting reasonable and
expeditious interconnection with their grids and not imposing artificial barriers to
doing so or entering into contracts with larger power facilities as a means of blocking
inter-connection and contracts with  small power production facilities and
nontraditional electricity generating facilities.

¢. Wholesale power rates-of-payment are mandated by FERC that the
rate to be paid by major utilities / power grid owners to small power production
facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities must be: (1) just and
reasonable to electric consumers and in the public interest; (2) not discriminatory
against small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating
facilities; and (3) reflective of the avoided cost to the major utility / power grid
owners of alternative electric energy. [t also means that the major utilities / power
grid owners may not favor contracts with larger power production facilities as a
means of manipulating the energy market to ensure a lack of economic viability of
small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities.

d. “Avoided costs” is defined as the incremental costs to an electric
utility of electric energy or capacity or both which, but for the purchase from the
qualifying facility, such utility would generate itself or purchase from another source.
The factors to be considered in determining avoided costs include: (1) the utility's
system cost data; (2) the terms of any contract including the duration of the
obligation; (3) the availability of capacity or energy from available small power
production facilities or nontraditional electricity generating facilities during the
system daily and seasonal peak periods; (4) the relationship of the availability of

COMPLAINT EOR DARMAGES ANID FQIHTARIEREL IFE
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energy or capacity from asmall power production facility or nontraditional electricity
generating facility to the ability of the electric utility to avoid costs; and (5) the costs
or savings resulting from variations in line losses from those that would have existed
in the absence of purchases from the small power production facility or nontraditional
electricity generating facility.

e. Calculation of avoided cost includes that cost which the major utility
/ power grid owner would generate itself or would have purchased from another
developer, at a technology specific and tiered sizing comparison; and, when
appropriate, including the cost of creating new generating facilities.

f Purchase power agreements between the major utility / power grid
owners and small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating
facilities must contain non-price terms which are fair and just under the totality of the
circumstances, in light of the intent of PURPA and its FERC adopted implementing
regulations to facilitate and promote small power production facilities and
nontraditional electricity generating facilities. This also means that the major utilities
/ power grid owners may not impose non-price terms that effectively prevents the
economic viability of small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity
generating facilities.

g. State utility commissions are required to implement a trading market
with rates to be paid to renewable energy developers — ie. small power production
tacilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities — for renewable energy
credits [“RECs”]. This means that such commissions may not bundle the RECs
and/or assign them, without compensation therefor, to major utilities / power grid
OWICrs.

35. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that PURPA
and its implementing regulations, as set forth in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-34,
have been repeatedly violated by CPUC, SCE and/or other local power grid
providers, as follows:

COMPIAINTFOR DAMAGES AND FOQUITAREE BV IFT
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a. SFUI and CARE. as well as other small power production facilities
and nontraditional electricity generating facilities, have not been afforded means to
rapidly and expeditiously interconnect with SCE and/or existing power grids of the
major utilities, because of the use of devices — such as Rule 21 enabled by CPUC -
which enable circumvention of PURPA and its FERC adopted implementing
regulations.

b. SCE and other major utilities / power grid owners have repeatedly
and generally avoided purchasing energy from available small power production
facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities, and failed to permit
reasonable and expeditious interconnection with their grids, by imposing artificial
barriers to doing so and entering into contracts with larger power facilities as a means
of blocking inter-connection and contracts with small power production facilities and
nontraditional electricity generating facilities. For instance, with CPUC approval,
they enter into contracts with larger energy suppliers who cannot inter-connect for
many vears, and then posit those contracts as a basis for claiming that there is no
inter-connection capacity for Plaintiffs and other immediately available small power
production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities.

c. Wholesale power rates of payment for small power production
facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities, set by FERC as mandated
by PURPA and its implementing regulations — i.e. avoided cost — have been ignored
by CPUC, which instead set a much lower rate for use by SCE and other major
atifities / power grid owners, denominated as the “Market Price Referent.” This
unlawful rate renders economically unfeasible the operation of Plaintiffs and other
small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities.
it also enables the major utilities / power grid owners to favor contracts with larger
power production facilities as a means of manipulating the energy market to ensure
a lack of economic viability of small power production facilities and nontraditional
electricity generating facilities.

COMBLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND EQUITARL F RELITT
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d. Purchase power agreements offered by the major utility / power grid
owners to Plaintiffs and other small power production facilities and nontraditional
electricity generating facilities, with CPUC approval, contain non-price terms which
are not fair and just under the totality of the circumstances, in light of the intent of
PURPA and its FERC adopted implementing regulations to facilitate and promote
small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities,
that effectively prevents the economic viability of Plaintiffs and other small power
production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities.

e. For instance, without limitation, imposition by SCE, with CPUC
approval, of unilateral curtailment powers and weasel clauses imposed revenue tlow
risks and uncertainties that effectively denied Plaintiff SFUI necessary developer
financing. These provisions were not reasonably necessary for SCE or regulatory
purposes of CPUC, were predictably a death knell to any development financing, and
further undermined the purposes of PURPA to enable small power production
facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities notwithstanding
traditional obstacles from major utilities / power grid owners and state regulators.

f. CPUC approved SCE’s scheme to bundled RECs and assign them,
without just and fair compensation therefor to SFUI, in contravention to PURPA and
FERC approved implementing regulations.

36. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that
Defendants CPUC and SCE have repeatedly collaborated and enabled each other in
the implementation of matters as set forth in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-35, and in
so doing CPUC failed to perform its regulatory function and instead has encouraged
and enabled SCE in continued efforts to suppress and prevent small power production
facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities.

37. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that
specitically, but without limitation, CPUC has provided SCE with its approval of a
form contract for use by SCE with interconnecting facilities — SCE’s CREST
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Agreement — which form contract embodies and perpetuates the aforementioned
failures to comply with PURPA and FERC approved implementing regulations and
the concomitant abdication by CPUC of its federally mandated regulatory duties and
obligations.

38. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that SCL has
entered into contracts with larger energy suppliers which violate the requirements of
PURPA and its FERC adopted implementing regulations, and serve to prevent and
undermine small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating
facilities, many of the contracts having been adopted with the approval and/or
concurrence of CPUC, or otherwise enabled by CPUC.

39. SCE has refused to enter into a contract with Plaintiff SFUI which
complies with PURPA and its FERC adopted implementing regulations, instead
imposing the CPUC approved CREST Agreement, with its deficiencies as previously
described herein. Likewise, the relevant local major utility / power grid owner has
refused to enter into contracts with Plaintitf CARE which comply with PURPA and
its FERC adopted implementing regulations.

40. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that CPUC

~

has generally failed to perform its regulatory functions as mandated by PURPA and

>
its FERC adopted implementing regulations; to the contrary, CPUC has repeatedly
approved contracts, activities and proposals of SCE and other major utility / power
grid owners which do not comply nor conform with PURPA and its FERC adopted
implementing regulations,

41. Plaintiffs have repeatedly and concurrently complained informally and
formally about the above-described unlawful acts and omissions of Defendants CPUC
and SCE, and each of them, including without limitation the failure to properly and
sulficiently regulate the field and the major utility / power grid owners, as required
under PURPA and its FERC adopted implementing regulations, often with detailed
cross-references to statutes, regulations and other actions. In each case. CPUC
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and/or SCE, as relevant, failed and/or refused to take corrective action, sometimes
simply failing to act at all after protracted delays.

42. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that the
actions of Defendants have harmed the public interest by undermining the public
policy purposes of PURPA, including but not limited to making available additional
energy supplies, utilization of alternative and renewable energy sources, holding
down energy costs by increased and broader market competition, and enabling small
power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating facilities.

43. In enacting PURPA, Congress made express findings that the federal
regulatory scheme was necessary to respond to the existing, persistent and widespread
recalcitrance of state regulatory agencies and major utilities / power grid owners to
permit small power production facilities and nontraditional electricity generating
facilities; or worse, to affirmatively undermine the latter. The combined efforts of
CPUC, SCE and other major utilities / power grid owners, as above described, have
effectively perpetuated the very conduct of state regulatory agencies and major
utilities / power grid owners which Congress found to exist and wished to remedy:
and these entities have conspired and colluded to do so.

CLAIM NO.2
CLAIM FOR DAMAGES FOR DEPRIVATION OF
FEDERAL RIGHTS UNDER COLOR OF STATE LAW
_ Defendants CPUC and SCE -
{42 U.S.C. §1983]

44. The federal and constitutional rights of Plaintiff SFUI have been deprived
in that, by virtue of the unlawful acts as above-described in Claim No. 1:

a. The federal statutory rights of Plaintiff SFUI — as set forth in FPA and
PURPA, and implementing federal regulations — have been deprived;
b. Plaintiff SFUI was denied its right to reasonably profit from its

business enterprises, thereby constituting an unlawful and unconstitutional taking
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without just compensation and/or due process of law, as secured by the takings and
due process clauses of the United States Constitution; and/or

¢. Plaintiff SFUI was denied its right to contract, as secured by the
contracts clause of the United States Constitution.

45. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendant CPUC and each of its
commissioners and agents acted under color of state law; further, each of them at all
times acted under color of the statutes, ordinances, regulations, customs and usages
of'the State of California and/or CPUC; further, sald commissioners and agents were
each of them at all times acting within the course and scope of his/her authority and
agency, and further acting as authorized agents for CPUC and each other.

46. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendant CPUC and each of its
commissioners and agents executed the policies and customs established by directive
and/or practice, by State of California and/or CPUC; further, the commissioners and
agents by words, action and/or inaction caused and/or ratified the unlawful acts of
Defendant SCE.

47. Ax all times pertinent to this Complaint: The actions. decisions and
omissions of Defendants and each of them have been made or omitted pursuant to
official policy of the relevant entity and each of them, and all decisions have been by
the person(s), body and/or entity with final authority to do so for the relevant entity.

48. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Each of the Defendant entities
were acting as agents and/or principals of each other.

49. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendants, acting through their
respective principals and agents, have conspired with one another to effect the illegal
purposes alleged herein; to engage and engaged in the illegal conduct here mentioned,
to the injury of Plaintift SFUT of the rights, privileges and immunities secured to
Plaintift SFUT by the laws of the United States, as above-described in infer alia
Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43. One or more acts in furtherance of the conspiracy
have been committed.
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50. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendants, and their respective
principals and agents, acted in concert to engage in the illegal conduct here
mentioned, to the injury of Plaintiff SFUT of the rights, privileges and immunities
secured to Plaintiff SFUI by the laws of the United States, as above-described in
Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43.

51. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendants, their principals and
agents, and each of them, knew or should have known that the wrongs here
mentioned involving Plaintiff SFUI were about to be committed; and further each of
them had the power to prevent or aid in preventing the commission of the same.
Despite this, said Defendants, their principals and agents, and each of them, refused
and/or failed to prevent or aid in preventing the commission of said wrongs, and said
wrongs were in fact committed, denying Plaintift SFUI its rights secured under the
laws of the United States, as above-described in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43.

52. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendants, their principals and
agents, and each of them, set in motion a chain of events which each knew or
reasonably should have known, would cause the wrongs here mentioned, as above-
described in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43, and/or the consequential injuries and
damages to Plaintiff SFUL

53. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendants, their principals and
agents, and cach of them, participated in and/or caused the unlawful conduct
mentioned herein, as above-described in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43.

54. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendant SCE, and each of its
principals and agents, by virtue of conspiring and/or acting in concert with CPUC,
and its commissioners and agents, and/or acting to further the decisions and actions
of CPUC, acted under color of state law.

55. Defendants CPUC and SCE, their respective principals and agents, and

each ofthem, participated in and/or proximately caused the aforementioned unlawful
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conduct, as above-described in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43, and each acted in
concert with each other to that effect.

56. Plaintiff SFUI incurred, and continues to incur, economic injuries,
damages and expenses, lost business opportunities, and other consequential damages,
past, present and future, all of which were caused by the aforementioned conduct of
the Defendant CPUC and SCE, their respective principals and agents, and each of
them, in an amount to be proved at trial.

37. Plaintiff SFUI incurred, and continues to incur, legal fees and expenses,
all of which were caused by the aforementioned conduct of the Defendant CPUC and
SCE, their respective principals and agents, and each of them, in an amount to be
proved at trial.

58. The acts, omissions, decisions and conduct of the Defendants CPUC and
SCE, their respective principals and agents, and each of them, caused all of the
aforementioned injuries and damages of Plaintitf SFUI

59, As a direct and proximate result of the aforementioned acts and/or
omissions of the Defendants CPUC and SCE, their respective principals and agents,
and each of them, Plaintiff SFUI was subjected to economically intolerable
conditions.

60. Plaintiff SFUI has acted reasonably to mitigate its damages caused by and
arising from the aforementioned acts and/or omissions of the Defendants CPUC and
SCE, their respective principals and agents, and each of them.

61. Atall relevant times herein, Defendants CPUC and SCE, their respective
principals and agents, and each of them, acted with malice and reckless disregard for
the federal constitutional, statutory and regulatory rights, under the laws and
Constitution of the United States, entitling Plaintiff SFUT to punitive damages from
Defendant SCE.

COMPLAINTFOR DARAGES ANDYOUITARLY REIIEE
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CLAIM FOR DA\’I%%IZ!?F%% %EPRIVATION OF
FEDERAL RIGHTS UNDER COLOR OF STATE LAW
— Plaintiff CARE —
- Defendant CPUC —
[42 U.S.C. §1983]
62. The federal and constitutional rights of Plaintiff CARE have been
deprived in that, by virtue of the unlawful acts as above-described in Claim No. 1:

a. The federal statutory rights of Plaintiff CARE — as set forth in FPA
and PURPA, and implementing federal regulations — have been deprived;

b. Plaintiff CARE was denied its right to reasonably and economically
operate its nonprofit business enterprises, thereby constituting an unlawful and
unconstitutional taking without just compensation and/or due process of law, as
secured by the takings and due process clauses of the United States Constitution;
and/or

¢. Plaintiff CARE was denied its right to contract, as secured by the
contracts clause of the United States Constitution.

63. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendant CPUC and each of its
commissioners and agents acted under color of state law; further, each of them at all
times acted under color of the statutes, ordinances, regulations, customs and usages
of the State of California and/or CPUC; further, said commissioners and agents were
each of them at all times acting within the course and scope of his/her authority and
agency, and further acting as authorized agents for CPUC and each other.

64. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendant CPUC and each of'its
commissioners and agents executed the policies and customs established by directive
and/or practice, by State of California and/or CPUC; further, the commissioners and
agents by words, action and/or inaction caused and/or ratified the unlawful acts of
Defendant SCE.

65. At aill times pertinent to this Complaint: The actions, decisions and

omissions of Defendant CPUC, its commissioners and agents, and each of them, have

COMPTAINT FOR DAVAGES AND FQIUITARI F REVIEE
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been made or omitted pursuant to official policy of the relevant entity and each of
them, and all decisions have been by the person(s), body and/or entity with final
authority to do so for the CPUC.

66. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendant CPUC, 1its
commissioners and agents, and each of them, knew or should have known that the
wrongs here mentioned involving Plaintiff CARE were about to be committed; and
further each of them had the power to prevent or aid in preventing the commission of
the same. Despite this, said Defendant, its commissioners and agents, and each of
them, refused and/or failed to prevent or aid in the preventing the commission of said
wrongs, and said wrongs were in fact committed, denying Plaintiftf CARE its rights
secured under the laws of the United States, as above-described in Paragraphs 6-11,
15-16 & 25-43.

67. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendants CPUC, its
commissioners and agents, and each of them, set in motion a chain of events which
each knew, or reasonably should have known, would cause the wrongs here
mentioned, as above-described in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43, and/or the
consequential injuries and damages to Plaintiff CARE.

68. At all times pertinent to this Complaint: Defendant CPUC, its
commissioners and agents, and each of them, participated in and/or caused the
unlawful conduct mentioned herein, as above-described in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16
& 25-43.

69. Detendant CPUC, its commissioners and agents, and each of them,
participated in and/or proximately caused the aforementioned unlawful conduct, as
above-described in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43, and each acted in concert with
each other to that effect.

70. Plaintiff CARE incurred, and continues to incur, economic injuries,
damages and expenses, lost business opportunities, and other consequential damages,
past, present and future, all of which were caused by the aforementioned conduct of

COMPEAINT FOR DAMAGES AND FQIHETARI T RELIFE
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the Defendant CPUC, its commissioners and agents, and each of them, in an amount
to be proved at trial.

71. Plaintiff CARE incurred, and continues to incur, legal fees and expenses
all, of which were caused by the aforementioned conduct of the Defendant CPUC, its
commissioners and agents, and each of them, in an amount to be proved at trial.

72. The acts, omissions, decisions and conduct of the Defendant CPUC, its
commissioners and agents, and each of them, caused all of the aforementioned
injuries and damages of Plaintiff CARE.

73. Plaintiff CARE has acted reasonably to mitigate its damages caused by and
arising from the aforementioned acts and/or omissions of the Defendant CPUC, its
commissioners and agents, and each of them.

CLAIM NO. 4
EQUITABLE RELIEF
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF; DECLARATORY RELIEF
— Plaintiffs SFUI and CARE —
— Defendant CPUC -
[PURPA; 42 U.S.C. §1983]

74. Plaintiffs, and each of them, are entitled to orders declaring the conduct,
whether by acts omissions, of Defendant CPUC, its commissioners and agents, and
each of them, are each and all unlawful, in each and all of the particulars described
in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43.

75. Plaintiffs, and each of them, are entitled to orders enjoining the unlawtul
conduct, whether by acts omissions, of Defendant CPUC, its commissioners and
agents, and each of them, to remedy each and all of the particulars described in
Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43 and the consequences thereof. Plaintiffs, and each
of them, are seeking and are entitled to temporary, preliminary and injunctive relief.

76. Plaintiffs, and each of them, are being irreparably harmed by the unlawful
conduct, whether by acts omissions, of Defendant CPUC, its commissioners and

agents, and each of them, as described in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43, and will

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND EQUITARLE REI IEE
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continue to be so harmed unless and until the requested declaratory and/or injunctive
relief'is granted as prayed.
CLAIM NO. 5
INJUNCTIVE R E%géBéJgC}}JilﬁEgORY RELIEF
— Plaintiff SFUI —
[Ptizgf;eg ‘ﬁltssé:% 1983]

77. Plaintiff SFUI is entitled to orders declaring the conduct, whether by acts
omissions, of Defendant SCE, its principals and agents, and each of them, are each
and all unlawful, in each and all of the particulars described in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-
16 & 25-43.

78. Plaintiff SFUl is entitled to orders enjoining the unlawful conduct, whether
by acts omissions, of Defendant SCE, its principals and agents, and each of them, to
remedy each and all of the particulars described in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43
and the consequences thereof. Plaintiff SFUT is seeking and is entitled to temporary,
preliminary and injunctive relief.

79. Plaintiff SFUI is being irreparably harmed by the unlawful conduct,
whether by acts omissions, of Defendant SCE, its principals and agents, and each of
them, as described in Paragraphs 6-11, 15-16 & 25-43, and will continue to be so
harmed unless and until the requested declaratory and/or injunctive relief is granted
as prayed.

FURTHER COMMON ALLEGATIONS
—~ CAUSATION AND DAMAGES —

80. At ail times pertinent to this Complaint, the Defendants CPUC and SCE,
their respective principals and agents, and each of them, intended to do the acts
described herein, and/or to fail to do the acts required of them in respect to any
omissions described herein.

81. Each of the Defendants CPUC and SCE, their respective principals and
agents, and ecach of them, participated in and/or proximately caused the

COMPIAINT FOR DAMAGES AND DQIITARI FF RELIEE
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aforementioned unlawful conduct, and acted in concert with the other named
Defendant and its respective principals and agents, and each of them, and other
persons whose identities and/or extent of involvement are not yet known to Plaintiffs.

82. Plaintiffs are entitled to recover their reasonable attorneys’ fees, by statute,
and by virtue of their acting herein as private attorneys general, advancing substantial
public interests under FPA and PURPA.

83. The Defendants CPUC and SCE, their respective principals and agents, and
each of them, in engaging in the aforementioned conduct, acted with malice. The acts
and omissions of each Defendant, and of their respective principals and agents, and
each of them, was ratified by the Defendants and/or each of them, who were each
informed of'the unlawful conduct of its agents and either approved the acts or failed
to take any corrective action despite having the power and opportunity to do so.
Plaintiff SFUI is entitled to recover punitive damages from Defendant SCE, in an

amount to be proved at trial.

PRAYER
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs seek judgment against defendants jointly and

severally, except as specifically indicated, for:

1. Compensatory damages, according to proof;

2. Special consequential damages, including but not limited to economic
damages, financial losses, damage to business and economic opportunities, attorneys'
fees, legal costs, and other as yet undetermined damages, according to proof;

3. Punitive damages from SCE for Plaintiff SFUI. according to proof:

4. Declaratory reliefas prayed herein, and as may appear necessary and proper;

L

. Temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief as prayed herein,
and as may appear necessary and proper;

6. Reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit pursuant to statute and as private
attorneys general; and

{OMPEAINT BOR BAMAGES AND COIITARI B RTTILE
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7. For such further relief as the Court may deem necessary and proper.

Dated: June 10, 2011

Plaintiffs demand trial by jury.

Dated: June 10, 2011
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT TO UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE FOR DISCOVERY

This case has been assigned to District Judge S. James Otero and the assigned discovery
Magistrate Judge is Jay C. Gandhi.

The case number on all documents filed with the Court should read as follows;:

Cv1ll- 4975 SJO (JCGx)

Pursuant to General Order 05-07 of the United States District Court for the Central
District of California, the Magistrate Judge has been designated to hear discovery related
motions.

All discovery related motions should be noticed on the calendar of the Magistrate Judge

NOTICE TO COUNSEL

A copy of this notice must be served with the summons and complaint on all defendants (if a removal action is
filed, a copy of this notice must be served on all plaintiffs).

Subsequent documents must be filed at the following location:

[X] Western Division [ 1 Southern Division Eastern Division
312 N. Spring St., Rm. G-8 411 West Fourth St., Rm. 1-053 3470 Twelfth St., Rm. 134
Los Angeles, CA 90012 Santa Ana, CA 92701-4516 Riverside, CA 92501

Faiture to file at the proper location will result in your documents being returned to you.

CV-18 (03/08) NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT TO UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE FOR DISCOVERY



Name & Address:

Meir J. Westreich €SB 73133

Attorney at Law

221 East Walnut Street, Suite 200
Pasadena, Ca. 91101

Tel. 626-440-9906 / FAX 626-440-9970

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SOLUTIONS FOR UTILITIES, INC., a California

Corporation: CALIFORNIANS FOR RENEWABLE

ENERGY, INC., a California Non-Profit Corporation.

PLAINTIFF(S)
v,

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILTIES COMMISSION,

an Independent California State Agency; SOUTHERN

CALIFORNIA EDISON CO.,a California Corporation
DEFENDANT(S

CASE NUMBER

SUMMONS

TO:  DEFENDANT(S): CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILTIES COMMISSION, an Independent California

State Agency: SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY. a California Corporation

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within __ # | days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day vou received it), vou
miuist serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached Mccmpiaint o amended complaint
O counterclaim O cross-claim or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer

or motion must be served on the plaintiff’s attorney, Meir J. Westreich

, whose address is

221 Fast Walnut Street, Suite 200, Pasadena. Ca. 91101

. Ifvou fail to do so,

your answer or motion with the court,

Dated: -

Clerk, U.S.

Judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint, You also must file

District Court

Deputy Clerk

(Seal of the Courty

[Use 60 days if the defendant Is the United Stutes or a United States ugency, or is an officer or emplovee of the United Stares. Aliowed

60 dayvs by Rede [2ta)(3)].

CV-0IA (1207 SUMMONS



UNITED STATE: ASTRICT COT.IRT, CENTRAL DISTRICT .. CALIFORNIA
CIVIL COVER SHEET

1 (a3 PLAINTIFFS {Chech box if you are representing yoursel U ) 5 ) . o
SOLUTIONS FOR UTILTTHES, INC., a Califomia Corporation, C AI EFUR\JM PUBLIC UTILTITIES COMMISSION, an Independent
CALITORNIANS FOR RENFWALRLE ENERGY . INC | California Siate Agency; SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON CO.

a Caltfornia Non-Profit Corporation. a Caltformia Comporation.

Attorneys (Firm Name, Address and Telephone Number 1 you are representing Attomeyvs (I Known)
yoursclf, provide same.)

(b

—

Meir J Wesireich, Autorney at Law U8B 73133
221 Fast Walnut Street. Suite 200
Pasadena. Ca. 91101 Tef 626-4403-2906 FAX 626-440-9970

1L BASES OF JURIBDICTION (Place an X inone box onity ) 1t CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES - For Diversity Cases Only
{Place an X i one box for plamtii¥ and one lor defendant. )
[3 1158, Governunent Plamiift fx Federal Question (118 PIF DEF ?‘F DEF
Governmen: Not 2 ?drtg,.) Citizen of This St Ot T4 incorporaied o Principal Place ™4 W4
of Businesy in this Stae
12 US. Government Defendant T 4 Diversity {Indicate Citizenship { Citizen of Another Staie S120 52 hworporated and Principal Plage TF 35
of Parties in Hem (1) of Business in Asother Sate
Citizen oy Subjet ol e Foreign Coumtry L33 L3 Foreign Nation e e

IV, ORIGIN (Place an N inone boxonlyy

02 Removed from 13 K:ma"s::eo from 54 Reimsiated or 53 Transferred from another district (speci

06 Multi- 37 Appeal to Distnct
State Court Reapened istri i

> from
Magistrate Judge

Y, REQUESTVED IN COMPLAINT  JURY DBEMAND: Ef:n,\ T2 Ne {Check "Yes® only i demar 3 :
CLASS ACTION uader FROP. 23 T Yes :T{’.'\ﬁ ﬁlﬂ(}z\’!{\f DEMANDED IN COMPLAINT: § According fo Prool’

ss diversity )
for small / alternative utiliiies seeking © nterconnect w/ major utility.

Vi CALUSE OF AC HO‘\ ((!ls, the ULS. Civil Statute upder which you are filing and write a brief statement of canse. Do not cite iwrisdictional statute

2 USC see 1983, Enforcoment of Public Liihities Enforcoment Act rights

SIL NATURE OF SUIT (Place an X in one bax only )y

QTHER STATUTES CONTRACT TORTS TORTS PRISONER LABOR
1400 Swe Reapportionment P10 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL PETITIONS IRty gd, {.abor Siandards
Antitrast 2 Marine {2 21U Adrplane PROPE T3S0 Motions o
Hanks und Bmknw ) Milter Act D35 Adrplaoe Product 3 Ciher Fraud Vacate Serience T 720 LaborMgmt.
Com 3 Negouable instroment Truth in Lending Habeuas Corpus Relations

Generud L2730 Labor/Mgmi
v Death Penalty Reperung &
& Mandm*v» Diselosure Aet

od. moploysrs”

RE b . . o .
udam\.n. i;jr‘:\“ Pmduu ! y U2 744 Radlway Labor Act
Medicare Act 45 Marine Product BANKRUPICY L2796 Other Labor
‘{ccm‘.w of ‘) iau!ud Powa Manine Froduct D420 SC Lavgation

Liabiliy
350 Motor Vehele
Muotor Ve
Product |
e Personal

mph Ret inc
urity Act
TY RIGIITS

cle
Adahubity

( l'lldc."l‘mﬂ\
SOCIAL SECURITY
$861 THA (139311

Liebil ii}

FEDERAL TAX SUITS
JB70 Taxes (US. Plainuft
or Duxhdam)

3 Ecunumax Sizhilization Product 862
196 Franciuse 13368 Asbesios T 863
watal Matters REAL PROPERYT 5 3
ho Land Condemnation O Sad ':s\H_) Title NV
E cclosure L3863 RSI (4032

Rent Lease &
Yors to Land
Tort Product Liability
Al Other Real Property

nmigraiion

Sate Sunu 5

Actinns

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY:  Case Number:
AFTER COMPLETING THE FRONT SIBE OF FORM CQV-71, COMPLETE THE INFORMATION REQUESTED BELOW,

TV-74 (05708 CIVIL COVER SHEET Page 1 ot'2



UNITED STATE. ISTRICT COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT . CALIFORNIA
CIVIL COVER SHEET

ded or closed” i(;\"o

VIi(a) IDENTICALC 1S action heen previcusly (led in this court and dis s
If yas. list case number(s):
Vilifh) RELATED CASES: Haveany ¢ led In this court that are Telated 1o the present case ZYes

if ves, Hst case number{(sy:

Civil cases are deemed reluted if a previously filed case and the present case:
(Check ail bovesthat appivy T A, Arise from the same of closely related transactions, happenings, or events; of
7 B. Call for determination of the sarme or substantially related or similar questions of law and fact or

7 0. For other reasons would entadl substantisl duphication of lsbor i heard by different judges: or

of the

rs 1dentified above in a, b or ¢ also is presend

D Involve same natent. trademark or copyright. and on

IX, VENUE: (When completing the following information, use an additional shest i nee

ia: or Foreign Country. i which
1 (b}

fornia County outside of this District: State it other than Californ 2ACH named plaintitf resides.

snlovees is a named plaintiff 1f this box is checked. go to it

wy in this Distriet. ©
he povernment, ifs agencies or

{a) List the Coun
= Checkl

e of this Phsim er than Califorsia; or Foreign Countty

Countv in i isirict ¢
San Diego County Santa Cruz County

{ other than Caltforma: o Foreign Country, in which FACH numed dotendant resides.
11 this box is checked. 20 to iem (¢},

st the Cowy
{heck here

County i this Disiriet® Calitorniz County outside of this Disirict tc, if gther than Calitornia; or Foreign Country

Los Angeles County y Francisco County

i which EACH claim arese,

is Districy Stare i other than California or Fareign Count

{c) Listihe County 1n this Distrier, California Courny outside of i
Note: in land condemnation cases, use the location of the fraet of land involved,

ot Catiforsia County outside of this District; Stme, i other than Califoraia or Foroign Country

County in i

Los Angeles County San Diego County
Santa Cruz County
San Francisco County

* Los Angeles, Orange, San Bernardizo, Riverside, Ventura, Sants Barhari, or$ San Luis Obispe Counties
Note: In land condemnation cases. use the focation of the tract of !an{} mnvalved

X. SIGNATUREOF

V(R PRO PER: Dage June 10,2011

Notice to CounseliParties:  The COV-71 (38-44) Civil Cover Shw und the z“lformanon containgd heréin nexther rep!a ce nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings
or other papers as reguired by kw. This form. g 1 i 1974, is required pur\ua o Loecal Rale 3-1 s not filed
but is used by the Clerk of the Coust for the pun_wse ofsta ore detama instructions, see separae nstructions sheet.}

Key to Statistical codes relating 10 Sovial Securty Cases,

Sature of Seit Code Abbreviadon Substantive Staterent of Cause of Action

HIA taims for bealih insurarce benefns (Medicare) undu Title 18 Part AL of the Sovial Security Act. as amended
: include claims by hospitals. skilled nursing facilities. ote.. for certilication as providers of services under the
program. (42 US8.C. 19355 ¥ ()
SRZ nL Adi cmum for “Black Lung” benelits under Title 4, Pant B. of the Federal Coul Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969

363 Al claims filed by msured workers for d 2 of the Social Security Act, as
amended: plus alf claims fiied for chil (42 U S.C $05¢e;

863 DWW Ad claims filed fir widows or widowers msurance beneiits bused on disabil Lity under Thie 2 of the Social Security
Act,as amended. (42 US.C403en

563 Al ¢laims tor supplemental security meome pavments based upon disability filed under Title 16 of the Social Securin
Act. as umended

863 RS all claims for retiroment {old age) and sarvivars henefiis under Titde 2 of the Social Security Act, as amended (42

LS

CV.T710308) CYVIL COVER SHEET Page 2 of 2



ATTORNEY(S) FOR, OR, P
T IS PRO PER LT

NAMEL. AR
DEFENDANT

MEIR I WESTRE] LH C bB 73133
Atiorney at Law

221 East Walnut Street, Suite 200
Pasadena, Ca. 91101 1
Tel, 626-240-9906 / FAX 626-440-9970 o

ATTORNEYS FOR - Plgintiffs B e L o

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SOLUTIONS FOR UTILITIES. INC., a California CASE NUVBER:
Corporation; CALIFOR NS FOR RENEWABLE

ENERGY, INC., & California Non-Profit Corporation =
Plamtiiis )
CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMMN, a CERTIFICATION AND NOGTICE
California Indcpendent Agency:; SCUTHERN OF INTERESTED PARTIES
CALIFORNIA EDISON (0. a California L-\)ip. Defendunics) {Local Rule 7.1-1)
1o PHE COURT AND ALL PARTIES APPEARING OF RECORD:

The undersigned, counsel of record for Plainiffs

{or party appearing in pro per), certifies that the following listed party (or parties) may have a direct, pecuniary
interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made to enable the Court to evaluate possible
disqualification or recusal. (Use additional sheet if necessary.)

PARTY CONNECTION
(List the names of all such parties and identify their connection and interest.)
Solutions for Utdities, Inc. {"SFUT"], a Cahtormiz Corporation Plaintitf
\E v Hotfman President of Plaintit? SFUT

CAlifornians for Renewable Energy, Inc. ["CARE"]

a Califorma Non-Profit Corporation Plaintiff
Michac! Bovd President of Plamntiff CARE

California Public Utilities Commission,
a California Independent Aggm}' Defendani
Southern California Edison Co., a California Corporation Defendant

June 10, 2011
i

Meir J. Wesireich

Attorney of record for or party appearing in pro per
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